RECEIVED
Nov 06 2025
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Thomas W. McGee III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-cp-10-01215
Appellant Case No. 2024-001813

Mansfield at Park West, Inc. Respondent,

v.

D.R. Horton, Inc. Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT D.R. HORTON, INC.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The arbitrator and circuit court subverted decisional law of the United States Supreme Court and the controlling Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions by validating the Respondent's improper amendment of that Declaration (a) to claim standing and real-party-in-interest status and (b) to eliminate the agreed procedure for handling claims.
2. The circuit court erred by not vacating the award of the arbitrator, who violated the parties' agreement for a reasoned award, which the Appellant requested in order to assure correct analysis of the facts and law by the arbitrator.
3. The circuit court erred by not vacating the award of the arbitrator for his failure and refusal to allocate his award among the Appellant's requested construction categories, thereby ignoring the parties' agreement for a reasoned award and depriving the Appellant of its right to contribution and indemnification from its respective contractors and subcontractors that caused the awarded damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent is the Homeowner's Association ("HOA") for The Mansfield at Park West, a 28-townhome community of new townhomes that D.R. Horton, Inc. developed in 2009-2010. After the Statutes of Limitations and Repose had expired, the HOA filed a Complaint on March 12, 2021 naming D.R. Horton, Inc. as the Defendant. (ROA pp. 27-36) The complaint alleged construction defects in individual townhome units. The HOA claimed itself as the Plaintiff by virtue of having recorded on March 9, 2021, just three days prior to filing the lawsuit, its amendment to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Mansfield at Park

West (“CCRs”) purporting to give the right to pursue in arbitration class action construction claims to itself as a single plaintiff. (ROA pp. 28, para. 1; 208-210) The HOA also filed a motion to compel arbitration on March 12, 2021. (ROA pp. 37-38)

D.R. Horton filed an Answer, Jury Trial Demanded, and a Motion to Dismiss on May 18, 2021. (ROA pp. 39-47)

The parties entered into a Consent Order to Arbitrate on July 28, 2021, preserving D.R. Horton’s Motion to Dismiss to be heard at arbitration. The Consent Order selected South Carolina law as the controlling law for the selection of the arbitrator in paragraph two. (ROA pp. 1-3)

D.R. Horton filed an Amended Answer on June 10, 2022. (ROA pp. 77-96)

D.R. Horton filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and a Memo in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment on August 30, 2022 followed by a Reply Brief in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment on September 22, 2022 in which it sought summary judgment as to the standing and real party in interest issues raised by the amendments to the CCRs that it asserts contractually violated the CCRs. (ROA pp. 97-101; 102-210; 211-264)

D.R. Horton filed a Prehearing Brief July 2023. (ROA pp. 558-631)

The arbitration hearing was held on July 26 and 31, 2023 before arbitrator Thomas J. Wills, IV, who issued his award on August 22, 2023. (ROA pp. 18-22) D.R. Horton filed a motion for clarification regarding the damages award, requesting an allocation of the damages, which the arbitrator summarily denied. (ROA pp. 657-659; 23-27)

D.R. Horton filed a Motion to Vacate the Arbitration Award on November 20, 2023. (ROA pp. 265-996) The court held a hearing on July 12, 2024 and denied the motion on September 4, 2024. (ROA pp. 5-14)

D.R. Horton filed a Motion for Reconsideration on September 16, 2024, which was denied on October 3, 2024. (ROA pp. 1045-1056; 15-17) D.R. Horton filed a Notice of Appeal on October 24, 2024. (ROA pp. 1057-1081)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Federal Arbitration Act provides the statutory grounds for vacating an arbitrator's award. *See* 9 U.S.C. Section 10. Applicable to this case is (4) which provides for an award to be vacated where the arbitrators exceed their powers, or so imperfectly executed them that a mutual, final, and definite award upon the subject matter submitted was not made. 9 U.S.C. Section 10(a) (4). The South Carolina arbitration statute also requires an arbitrator's award to be vacated when the arbitrator exceeds his powers. S.C. Code Section 15-48-130 (2016). Additionally, South Carolina provides for a non-statutory basis to vacate an award: manifest disregard or perverse misconstruction of the law, which occurs when an arbitrator "knew of a governing principle yet refused to apply it." *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 241-42, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323-24 (2009).

While "[a]rbitration is a favored method of settling disputes in South Carolina," *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 241, 676 S.E. 2d 320, 323 (2009), "[a]n arbitration award may be vacated when the arbitrator exceeds his or her powers or manifestly disregards or perversely misconstrues the law. *Id. See also Weimer v. Jones*, 364 S.C. 78, 80, 610 S.E.2d 850, 852 (Ct. App. 2005). This basis "for vacating an arbitration award occurs when the arbitrator knew of a governing legal principle yet refused to apply it." *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 241-42, 676 S.E. 2d 320, 323-24 (2009); *C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown*, 403 S.C. 53, 56, 742 S.E.2d 359, 360 (2013); *Trident Technical College v. Lucas and Stubbs*, 286 S.C. 98, 333 S.E.2d 781 (1985). In circumstances where the court is asked to vacate an arbitration award for "manifest disregard of the law, the governing law ignored by the arbitrator must be well defined, explicit, and clearly

applicable.” *Gissel at.* at 323-24, 676 S.E.2d at 241-42. “Factual and legal errors by arbitrators do not constitute an abuse of powers, and a court is not required to review the merits of a decision so long as the arbitrators do not exceed their powers. *Id.* at 324; 676 S.E.2d 242. An arbitrator gains his authority from agreement of the parties and an award must be vacated when the arbitrator does not comply. *See, e.g., Int’l Union, United Mine Workers of Am. v. Marrowbone Dev. Co.*, 232 F.3d 383, 389 (4th Cir. 2000).

SUMMARY OF FACTS

Introduction

This crux of this case is whether an arbitrator may ignore and circumvent United State’s Supreme Court decisions that litigants may not be forced to have class action claims decided in arbitration without their specific consent to do so. That is what happened in this case and why this case is important.

The setting is in the context of a construction defect arbitration in which the Respondent HOA and its counsel have attempted to circumvent the clear terms of the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Mansfield at Park West (“CCRs”) to purport to give the HOA standing and real party in interest capacity to sue for all of the townhome owners at Mansfield, as a defacto class action in arbitration - a class action arbitration to which Appellant did not consent. The amendments to make these changes violated the CCRs, contrary to clear South Carolina contract law. The HOA, even with the amendments, still had no stake in the case because it had no obligations, responsibilities, or rights regarding any ownership, repairs, or financial obligations to the townhomes or the townhome owners. The HOA is not a real party in interest. The HOA had no standing because

the CCRs amendments were not valid. The amendment to the dispute resolution procedure, imposed upon Appellant only three days after it was recorded, was also invalid and improperly imposed. The result of the arbitrator's award is an end run around the United States Supreme Court prohibition on forced class action arbitrations. And we have no idea why the arbitrator decided to grant an award that runs afoul of United States Supreme Court precedent because he said nothing about his reasons, despite his obligation to provide a reasoned award, which raises the second main concern in this appeal.

The second main concern of this appeal involves the arbitrator's failure and refusal to issue the reasoned award that the arbitrator and parties agreed would be issued. A reasoned award was requested to ensure the arbitrator engaged in an analysis before rendering an award. Engaging in an analysis and putting pen to paper clarifies understanding and leads to correct decisions. A reasoned decision was agreed to but was not provided.

The trial court attempted to cure the lack of reasoning, however, as discussed in this brief, that attempt was flawed and does not remedy the arbitrator's failure to issue the reasoned award. If this is the future of arbitration in South Carolina, then a third concern, is whether arbitration is likely to remain a viable resource for commercial entities.

Facts

Appellant was the developer at the Mansfield at Park West, a townhome development that was completed, and certificates of occupancy issued in calendar years 2009 – 2011, approximately 12-14 years ago.¹ The townhomes were built using materials from interstate commerce and sold as new housing units to the original purchasers. Appellant did not build

¹ Certificates of Occupancy confirm the timeframe. (ROA pp. 118-140).

any townhomes itself. Construction was performed by various contractors and subcontractors.

At some point, townhome owners decided to pursue claims for defective construction. They hired a law firm to put into motion a means to effectively bring a class action in arbitration even though the parties had never agreed to class action arbitration. This violated United States Supreme Court case law. *Lamps Plus, Inc. v. Varela*, 139 S. Ct. 1407 (2019); *Epic Systems Corp. v. Lewis*, 138 S. Ct. 1612 (2018) (enforcing as written arbitration agreements that preclude class action arbitration). In order to achieve their desire to pursue claims for the entire development in a single arbitration, the townhome owners and the HOA devised a scheme to prematurely and improperly modify CCRs to give the right to pursue the construction claims to the HOA as a single plaintiff and modified the entire dispute resolution process. Appellant objected to this maneuver, filed a motion for summary judgment, and argued that not only did the amendments violate the CCRs, but also that the HOA lacked standing and was not a real party in interest. (ROA pp. 97-264)

The amendments violated the CCRs because the CCRs were filed on September 13, 2007, and with an initial twenty-year term that is effective until September 2027. CCRs, §1.2. (ROA pp. 312; 307-373) Appellant is the Declarant with rights under the CCRs for the full duration of the initial twenty-year term. After, *but only after*, the initial twenty-year period ending on September 30, 2027, the CCRs may be modified by the owners pursuant to §18.1.² The CCRs also provide that each townhome owner is solely responsible for his or her own interior and exterior maintenance, including their individual roofs.³ CCRs, §5.2.

² Under other scenarios, the Declarant had rights to modify the CCRs under certain circumstances under a separate provision not applicable to this case, §18.2, and used that right once before unrelated to this matter. That Amendment is reflected in the First Amendment to the CCRs. The amendments the townhome owners and the HOA attempt to use in this case constitute the Second Amended CCRs.

³ Each townhome owner owns his or her property in fee simple.

(ROA pp. 318-19) The Homeowners Association, the homeowners, and D.R. Horton, as the Declarant, are the parties to the CCRs. The homeowners attempted to transfer their rights to this litigation to the Homeowners Association on March 1, 2021, in the Second Amended CCRs, recorded *just three days before filing suit in this case*. (ROA pp. 208-210) However, the governing documents prohibited such an amendment, because the CCRs provide that any amendments to the CCRs *do not take effect and may not be enforced until three years after an amendment is recorded and that the CCRs may be amended only after the initial twenty-year terms pursuant to §18.1*. CCRs, §18.1. (ROA p. 341) The homeowners' association violated that provision when it enacted the amendments giving it the putative right to pursue the defective construction claims, enacted an amendment modifying the dispute resolution provision, and filed the action against D.R. Horton immediately thereafter. (ROA pp. 341; 97-264) D.R. Horton objected to the amendments being made and applied prematurely. Appellant's contractual interests in the amendment process, timing, dispute resolution process, and other terms and conditions of the CCRs remained relevant to Declarant as the developer and were part of its negotiated business deal with the townhome purchasers.

D.R. Horton also argued in its motion for summary judgment, at the arbitration hearing, in its motion to vacate, and in its motion for reconsideration that Respondent is not a real party in interest because it has suffered no damages, no losses, and is under no obligation to provide any money, resources, repairs, or replacements to the townhome owners from the lawsuit. The attempted amendments did not modify §5.2 of the CCRs leaving the homeowners solely obligated to maintain the interior and exterior for each townhome's maintenance. The HOA assumed no obligation to repair any townhome or to provide any

funds to any homeowner for such purpose. The HOA also failed to comply with the dispute resolution process in the First Amended CCRs making the lawsuit premature, as well.

At arbitration, a reasoned award was agreed to, which required the arbitrator to issue a reasoned award. Affidavit of John Crawford. (ROA pp. 1055-1056) A reasoned award was required for each issue in the case – standing, real party in interest, the contract issues raised by the CCRs amendments, construction issues, and damages. No one has stated that a reasoned award was not agreed to. Because it was agreed to, it was a required part of the arbitrator’s responsibility. Respondents assert that the award was reasoned. It was not, except as to gross negligence. Appellant was entitled to a full reasoned award, which the arbitrator failed to provide.

The trial court determined that the parties are not entitled to a reasoned award under South Carolina law, even when that is the agreed upon format for the award. Such a perspective ignores all the various arbitration organizations’ choices for arbitration awards and frustrates litigants’ arbitration choices. Moreover, the trial court pointed to no statute, caselaw, or rule that prohibits reasoned awards under South Carolina law or under the Federal Arbitration Act when that is what the parties and the arbitrator agreed to.

Respondent waited until well past the Statute of Repose to file the lawsuit; therefore, it had to prove gross negligence to overcome the Statute of Repose. The arbitrator agreed that in the 12-14 years since the buildings were completed there had been no interior damage to the townhomes, which is what the siding, roof and windows are required to prevent. The arbitrator said, “I’m not saying it’s prematurely failing. I’m not even arguing that because there’s very little proof. There’s leaks around the windows maybe and there’s some problems

with the shingle issue.” (Motion to Vacate, Exhibit Y, 7/31/2023 Tr. pp 274 lines 20-24 (ROA p. 982) and p. 279 lines 7-13 (ROA p. 983)) The only way the Respondent could recover, however, was for the arbitrator to find gross negligence. D.R. Horton argued it did not commit gross negligence and while it remains committed to that position, it understands that the Court frowns upon reviewing the purely factual decision of the arbitrator and therefore does not pursue that as part of this appeal except to the extent that a new arbitration before a different arbitrator would include arbitration as to all issues. Gross negligence is the only issue for which the arbitrator provided a reasoned award; but he then failed to complete the damages task when he provided a standard lump sum award – rather than the agreed upon reasoned award – as to the damages that the arbitrator knew would prevent Appellant’s ability to seek recompense from its contractors and subcontractors for their work. This resulted in a punitive-type award against Appellant for the entire damage burden, which is not allowed.

The Federal Arbitration Act applies because the building and sale of the townhomes affect interstate commerce as discussed below. To the extent that federal law and South Carolina diverge in this case, federal law preempts South Carolina law, except as to the selection of the arbitrator which specifically references South Carolina law in the Consent Order in paragraph two. (ROA p. 1) In many respects, for this case, the law is substantially the same.

ARGUMENTS

- I. THE ARBITRATOR AND CIRCUIT COURT SUBVERTED DECISIONAL LAW OF THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT AND THE CONTROLLING DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS BY VALIDATING THE RESPONDENT'S IMPROPER AMENDMENT OF THAT DECLARATION (A) TO CLAIM STANDING AND REAL-PARTY-IN-INTEREST STATUS AND (B) TO ELIMINATE THE AGREED PROCEDURE FOR HANDLING CLAIMS.

- a. The Arbitrator Ignored South Carolina Law On Standing, Real Party In Interest, Contract Law, And The Clear Terms Of The CCRs And Manifestly Disregarded The Law When He Failed To Grant Appellant Summary Judgment And Find For Appellant On This Issue In The Arbitration And Dismiss The Case.

The United States Supreme Court decided that parties cannot be forced to arbitrate class claims unless they have specifically agreed to do so. *Lamps Plus, Inc. v. Varela*, 139 S. Ct. 1407 (2019); *Epic Systems Corp. v. Lewis*, 138 S. Ct. 1612 (2018) (enforcing as written arbitration agreements that preclude class action arbitration). Appellant did not agree to class action arbitration. Respondent attempted to force Appellant to arbitrate class action claims through the second amendment to the CCRs , which purported to give the HOA the authority to pursue construction defect claims for the class of owners at Mansfield. The amendment was a thinly veiled end run around the United States Supreme Court’s restrictions on class actions in arbitrations, but it did not provide the HOA with a real party in interest stake in the matter and it did not provide the HOA with standing because the amendment was not valid, as discussed in detail below.

The Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) , 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-16, applies to arbitrations that affect interstate commerce. D. R. Horton is incorporated in Delaware with a principal place of business in Texas. It develops housing projects across the United States using building materials, human resources, and financing in interstate commerce throughout the country. The Mansfield development was one such interstate commerce and resource project. In *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that “the transactions here manifestly involve interstate commerce, as they involved the construction of new homes built to Petitioners' specifications rather than the purchase of pre-existing homes. *See, e.g., Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 458 n.8, 730 S.E.2d 312, 318 n.8 (2012) (“[O]ur appellate courts

have consistently recognized that contracts for construction are governed by the FAA."); *Episcopal Hous. Corp. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 269 S.C. 631, 640, 239 S.E.2d 647, 652 (1977) (explaining that contracts requiring the construction of a new building implicate interstate commerce because it would be "virtually impossible" to construct the building "with materials, equipment[,] and supplies all produced and manufactured solely within the State of South Carolina")” *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 608, 879 S.E.2d 746, 753 (2022). To the extent that federal law and South Carolina diverge in this case, federal law preempts South Carolina law. In many respects, for this case, the law is substantially the same.⁴ *Episcopal Hous. Corp. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 269 S.C. 631, 640, 239 S.E.2d 647, 652 (1977)

The FAA provides the statutory grounds for vacating an arbitrator’s award. *See* 9 U.S.C. Section 10. Applicable to this case is (4) which provides for an award to be vacated where the arbitrators exceed their powers, or so imperfectly executed them that a mutual, final, and definite award upon the subject matter submitted was not made. 9 U.S.C. Section 10(a) (4). The South Carolina arbitration statute also requires an arbitrator’s award to be vacated when the arbitrator exceeds his powers. S.C. Code Section 15-48-130 (2016). Additionally, South Carolina provides for a non-statutory basis to vacate an award: manifest disregard or perverse misconstruction of the law, which occurs when an arbitrator “knew of a governing principle yet refused to apply it.” *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 241-42, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323-24 (2009).

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