**RECEIVED**

**Jul 02 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas W. McGee, III, Circuit Court Judge  
Civil Action No. 2021-CP-10-01215

Appellate Case No. 2024-001813

Mansfield at Park West, Inc. .... Respondent,

v.

D.R. Horton, Inc. .... Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MANSFIELD AT PARK WEST, INC.**

John P. Linton, Jr. (SC Bar # 79130)  
Jennifer S. Ivey (SC Bar # 102533)  
Walker Gressette & Linton, LLC  
P.O. Box 22167  
Charleston, SC 29413  
(843) 727-2200

W. Jefferson Leath, Jr. (SC Bar #3244)  
Jefferson Leath Esquire, LLC  
106 Tradd Street

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

**(Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. B, at p. 2-3)** (emphasis added). Both of these provisions belie D.R. Horton’s current contention that the Covenants could not be amended in any way during the initial 20-year term.

Reference to amendments and supplements in Section 1.2 indicates the parties contemplated that amendments may be made to the Covenants during the initial 20-year period.

---

<sup>5</sup> It is undisputed that D.R. Horton did not own any property described in Exhibit “A” or “B” at the time the Second Amendment to the Covenants was enacted. **(Order Den. DRH’s Mot. to Vacate and Confirming the Arb. Award entered Sept. 4, 2024, p. 5)**.

Section 1.3 expressly establishes D.R. Horton, as the Declarant, intended for the Covenants to be amendable and potentially supplemented during the initial 20-year term. The only conditions for such amendments or supplementations were the Declarant providing consent, for such portion of the initial term that it possessed ownership of real property described in Exhibits “A” or “B” to the Covenants,<sup>6</sup> or a 75% vote of the membership after such time as the Declarant no longer owned any property. **(Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. B, at pp. 2-3).**

These provisions, paired with the last sentence of Section 18.1 relating to amendment by the members, unambiguously provide that the members of the Association may amend the Covenants during the initial term. This is the correct interpretation of the language of the Covenants and harmonizes the various provisions of the Covenants concerning amendments and supplementation.

The meaning and intent of language in restrictive covenants should be determined from the document as a whole, not from cherry-picking fragments of a sentence that do not harmonize with the remainder of the same clause or other provisions of the document. Taylor v. Lindsey, 332 S.C. 1, 4, 498 S.E.2d 862, 863-64 (1998). “A contract is read as a whole document so that one may not create an ambiguity by pointing out a single sentence or clause.” Retreat at Charleston Nat’l

---

<sup>6</sup> The Covenants also granted D.R. Horton the right to unilaterally amend the Covenants during the time it maintained Class II membership status, provided that the amendment did not materially alter or change any Owner’s right to use and enjoy the Owner’s Unit. **(Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. B, at p. 31, § 18.2).** Pursuant to Section 4.2(b) of the Covenants, D.R. Horton could only maintain Class II membership, depending on its ownership holdings, for the first 10 years of the term of the Covenants. **(Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. B, at p. 7, §4.2(b)).** Accordingly, any amendment by D.R. Horton pursuant to Section 18.2 of the Covenants would have necessarily been within the initial 20-year term.

D.R. Horton exercised its right to amend the Covenants in 2009. **(Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. C, at pp. 1, 8).** That amendment was made immediately effective. **(Id.)**. D.R. Horton should be estopped from arguing that no amendments may be made during the initial term when it exercised its rights to amend the Covenants under Section 18.2, five years into the initial term.

Country Club Home Owners Association, Inc. v. Winston Carlyle Charleston Nat'l, LLC, 445 S.C. 566, 592-93 (Ct. App. 2025), cert. pending (internal quotations omitted); Williams v. Gov't Emps. Ins. Co. (GEICO), 409 S.C. 586, 595, 762 S.E.2d 705, 710 (2014); McGill v. Moore, 381 S.C. 179, 185, 672 S.E.2d 571, 574 (2009).

This Court should reject D.R. Horton's request for an unnatural, illogical, and strained construction of the Covenants with reference to one clause of Section 18.1 in isolation. At a minimum, D.R. Horton's desired interpretation of Section 18.1 creates ambiguity, within the language of Section 18.1 itself, and within the document as a whole, given the language of Sections 1.2, 1.3, and 18.2, as discussed above. The ambiguities created by this interpretation must be resolved in the Association's favor because while restrictive covenants are contractual in nature and should be interpreted in accord with contractual principals, they give rise to additional presumptions, all of which favor the Arbitrator's interpretation of the Covenants. As a matter of law, any ambiguity must be interpreted in favor of the amendment process and free use of property. Taylor v. Lindsey, 332 S.C. at 4, 498 S.E.2d at 864 ("The court may not limit a restriction in a deed, nor, on the other hand, will a restriction be enlarged or extended by construction or implication beyond the clear meaning of its terms even to accomplish what it may be thought the parties would have desired had a situation which later developed been foreseen by them at the time when the restriction was written.") (internal quotations and citations omitted). Further, "[w]here the language of the restrictions is equally capable of two or more different constructions that construction will be adopted which least restricts the use of the property." S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 622, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302 (2001). "A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of

property.” Taylor, 332 S.C. at 5, 498 S.E.2d at 864 (citation omitted). D.R. Horton did not restrict the members’ ability to amend or supplement the Covenants during the initial term and with years delay in express, plain, and unmistakable terms.

The Arbitrator’s interpretation of the amendment provision of the Covenants was reasonable, correct as a matter of law, and did not amount to an abuse of discretion or conscious disregard of the law. The circuit court properly affirmed the Arbitrator’s award in this respect based upon the applicable standard of review. Gissel v. Hart, 382 S.C. 235, 241, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323-24 (2009) (internal quotation omitted) (“Even a clearly erroneous interpretation of [a] contract [by an arbitrator] cannot be disturbed.”) (internal quotations omitted). The circuit court’s orders should be affirmed for these reasons.

- c. D.R. Horton does not have the right to challenge the amendment process of the non-profit Association because it was not a member or director of the Association at the time the process was undertaken.

The Second Amendment to the Covenants was permitted pursuant to the express language of the Covenants as analyzed above. The circuit court’s orders should be affirmed on those grounds alone; however, the circuit court’s orders should be affirmed on the additional ground that D.R. Horton does not have the right or standing to challenge the Association’s amendment process or the efficacy of the Second Amendment to the Covenants as a matter of law. Pursuant to Section 33-31-304(b) of the South Carolina Code of Laws, only the members or directors<sup>7</sup> of a nonprofit corporation, like the Association, can challenge its internal actions. See S.C. Code § 33-31-304(b). D.R. Horton is not part of the limited class of people who can challenge the Association’s process and enactment of the Second Amendment to the Covenants. The Arbitrator’s award and circuit

---

<sup>7</sup> It is also noted that the Attorney General also possesses authority to challenge the internal actions of a nonprofit corporation, but that is irrelevant here.

court's orders should be affirmed because D.R. Horton at all pertinent times hereto has lacked statutory standing to challenge the actions of the nonprofit Association.

D.R. Horton lacks statutory standing to challenge the Association's amendment process or the amendment itself because it was not a member or director of the Association at any time relevant hereto. As set out above, it is undisputed that D.R. Horton did not own any townhome units at the time the Association enacted the Second Amendment to the Covenants, and, therefore, was not a member of the Association. D.R. Horton was no longer a director either.

The business and affairs of the Association are governed by a Board of Directors, who must be members or residents of the community. (**Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. B, at Bylaws, Art. III**). Similar to voting rights, the Association's Bylaws vested D.R. Horton with special rights during the period of its Class II membership. (**Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. B, at Bylaws, § 3.4(a)**). D.R. Horton had the sole and exclusive right to appoint and remove directors of the Association until its Class II membership terminated. (**Id.**). Thereafter, "directors" were to be elected by the members of the Association, subject to the requirement that all directors must be members or residents of the community. (**Id.**). D.R. Horton was not a director of the Association at the time the Second Amendment was enacted because it was no longer a member of the Association. It does not possess rights to object to or challenge the amendment on this basis either.

Standing is statutorily conferred by S.C. Code § 33-31-304(b). The fact that D.R. Horton claims to have been affected by the amendment does not provide D.R. Horton with standing to challenge the amendment or the process of enactment. In DeBorde v. St. Michael & All Angels Episcopal Church, a non-parishioner of a church tried to dispute the church's construction of a cemetery on the grounds that the church's charter did not grant it with the power to create a

cemetery and the restrictive covenants on the church's property prevented the church from building a cemetery. 272 S.C. 490, 492, 252 S.E.2d 876, 877 (1979). The court found that even though the non-parishioner may be affected by this construction, they did not have standing to challenge the church's actions as a non-parishioner because they lacked an interest in the church. DeBorde, 272 S.C. at 501, 252 S.E.2d at 881; compare with Chandelle Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Armstrong, 444 S.C. 292, 311, 906 S.E.2d 599, 609 (Ct. App. 2024) (finding members of a subdivision had standing to challenge an action of their own governing property owners association because they were members of the subdivision).<sup>8</sup>

“The traditional concepts of constitutional standing are inapplicable when standing is conferred by statute.” Preservation Society of Charleston v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env. Control, 430 S.C. 200, 845 S.E.2d 481 (2020) (quoting Freemantle v. Preston, 389 S.C. 186, 194, 728 S.E.2d 40, 44 (2012)). “Statutory standing exists, as the name implies, when a statute confers a right to sue on a party, and determining whether a statute confers standing is an exercise in statutory interpretation.” Youngblood v. S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs., 402 S.C. 311, 317, 741 S.E.2d 515, 518 (2013).

D.R. Horton was not a member or director of the Association at the time the Second Amendment was processed or enacted. It has no standing to challenge the Association's actions with respect to the amendment process or the efficacy of the Second Amendment to the Covenants.

- d. The Association had (and has) standing to bring the claims it asserted against D.R. Horton.

D.R. Horton's arguments hinge on a finding totally barring amendment of the Covenants during the first 20 years after their making. Seeing that such argument fails for the reasons set out

---

<sup>8</sup> The challenger to the association's action in that case was within the class of permitted plaintiffs under S.C. Code § 33-31-304(b), as a member of the nonprofit Association.

above, the analyses of the Association's standing and status as a real party in interest are very simple. The Association is the real party in interest and has standing to pursue the claims against D.R. Horton because the members of the Association and owners agreed the Association had the right and responsibility to pursue such claims when they passed and enacted the Second Amendment to the Covenants. **(Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. A, at pp. 1-2).**

Standing requires that one have a personal stake in the subject of the underlying suit and that they are a "real party in interest." Sloan v. Greenville Cnty., 356 S.C. 531, 547, 590 S.E.2d 338, 347 (Ct. App. 2003) (quotation omitted). "A real party in interest is one who has a real, material, or substantial interest in the subject matter of the action, as opposed to one who has only a nominal or technical interest in the action." Id. (internal citation and quotation omitted). "In its most basic sense, '[s]tanding refers to a party's right to make a legal claim or seek judicial enforcement of a duty or right.'" Preservation Soc'y of Charleston v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control, 430 S.C. 200, 209, 845 S.E.2d 481, 486 (2020) (internal quotation and citation omitted).

The legal claims that the Association asserted are within the scope of Section 5.1 of the Covenants, as amended. **(Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. A, at p. 1).** (providing that the Association ". . . shall have the right and obligation to pursue claims for faulty design and construction of the townhome exteriors and exterior building components. . . ."). The language of Section 5.1 not only provides for the Association to have the *right* to pursue claims for defective design or construction of the exterior building components and to marshal any funds recovered from such claims for their repair, but it also imposes the *obligation* upon the Association to do so. **(Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. A, at p. 1)** ("The Association at its sole discretion shall have the right and obligation to pursue claims for faulty design and construction of the townhome exteriors and exterior building components and installation thereof."). D.R. Horton's contention

that the Association “even with the amendments, still had no stake in the case because it had no obligations, responsibilities, or rights regarding any ownership, repairs, or financial obligations to the townhomes or the townhome owners,” is patently wrong. (**App. Initial Br. at p. 4**).<sup>9</sup> After the enactment of the Second Amendment, the Association has the obligation, responsibility, and financial responsibility to pursue construction defect claims relating to the exterior elements and exterior building components, prioritize the repairs that needed to be made, and use the funds collected for that purpose. (**Mot. to Vacate dated Nov. 20, 2023, Ex. A, at p. 1**).

At all times pertinent hereto, the Association had the obligation and “right to make a legal claim” and the duty to “seek judicial enforcement of a duty or right” to carry-out its duties related to the funds recovered and repair process. Preservation Soc’y, 430 S.C. at 209, 845 S.E.2d at 486 (internal citation and quotation omitted). As such, the Arbitrator properly found that the Association had standing to bring this suit because the Second Amendment to the Covenants vested the Association with these specific legal rights.

Furthermore, D.R. Horton has failed to show the Arbitrator disregarded the law, exceeded his powers or abused his discretion. Therefore, the Arbitrator and circuit court should be affirmed on these grounds.

II. D.R. HORTON WAS NOT FORCED TO ARBITRATE THIS CASE. D.R. HORTON CONSENTED TO SUBMITTING ALL CLAIMS TO BINDING ARBITRATION. FURTHER, THIS IS NOT AND HAS NEVER BEEN A CLASS ACTION.

D.R. Horton asserts that this case is a class action, and it did not agree to submitting a class action to arbitration. (**App. Initial Br. at pp. 4-13**). It is worth noting at the outset that D.R.

---

<sup>9</sup> D.R. Horton repeats this contention throughout its Brief, without any reference. See, e.g., (App. Initial Br. at p. 14) (“Notably, the Respondent HOA has no right, obligation or responsibility to do any of the above, and the amendments do not change that.”).

Horton's argument that it was forced to arbitrate class action claims was never presented to and ruled upon by the Arbitrator. D.R. Horton's burden (both at the circuit court and on appeal here) is to show that the Arbitrator abused its discretion. That requires showing that the Arbitrator knew of a governing legal principle yet refused to apply it. "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (citing Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife & Marine Resources Dep't, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997)). Here, because D.R. Horton only began to conjure up this argument late in the game, there is no way it could show that the Arbitrator knew of any legal principle and refused to apply it.

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